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PART 1--FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Statements made in this Report that are not historical facts may constitute forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed. Such risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to those discussed in this
Report under Item 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, and under Risk Factors in this Report. Words such as “expects,” “may,” “will,”
“anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements.
References to “we” means BioTime, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context otherwise indicates.
The description or discussion, in this Form 10-Q, of any contract or agreement is a summary only and is qualified in all respects by reference to the
full text of the applicable contract or agreement.
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Item 1. Financial Statements
BIOTIME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS)
March 31,
2016
(Unaudited)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Available for sale securities
Trade accounts and grants receivable, net
Landlord receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

$

Property, plant and equipment, net and construction in progress
Deferred license fees
Deposits and other long-term assets
Equity method investment
Intangible assets, net
TOTAL ASSETS

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Capital lease liability, current portion
Promissory notes, current portion
Deferred grant income
Deferred license and subscription revenue, current portion
Total current liabilities

$

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred revenues, net of current portion
Deferred rent liabilities, net of current portion
Lease liability
Related party convertible debt, net of discount
Promissory notes, net of current portion
Capital lease, net of current and other liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

December 31,
2015

27,132
829
1,125
943
2,878
32,907
8,932
293
1,268
4,436
32,278
80,114

10,674
22
95
2,269
609
13,669

$

$

$

42,229
753
1,078
567
2,610
47,237
7,539
322
1,299
4,671
33,592
94,660

9,377
38
95
2,513
439
12,462

538
261
5,408
394
220
32
20,522

615
158
4,400
324
220
34
18,213

-

-

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred shares, no par value, 2,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding
Common shares, no par value, 125,000 shares authorized; 94,894 issued and 90,421 outstanding as of March 31,
2016 and December 31, 2015
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Treasury stock at cost: 4,473 shares as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015
BioTime, Inc. shareholders' equity
Non-controlling interest
Total shareholders' equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements.
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$

275,238
(60)
(246,293)
(18,033)
10,852
48,740
59,592
80,114 $

274,342
(237)
(229,181)
(18,033)
26,891
49,556
76,447
94,660

BIOTIME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
(UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016
2015
REVENUES:
Subscription and advertisement revenues
Royalties from product sales
Grant income
Sale of research products and services
Total revenues

$

Cost of sales

420
123
1,487
43
2,073

$

(225)

Gross Profit
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSES):
Interest income/(expense), net
BioTime’s share of losses in equity method investment in Ascendance
Other income/(expense), net
Total other income/(expense), net
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX BENEFIT
Deferred income tax benefit

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest

(264)

1,848

1,000

13,734
11,872
25,606
(23,758)

9,323
5,179
14,502
(13,502)

(132)
(235)
128
(239)
(23,997)

(25)
(240)
(265)
(13,767)

-

NET LOSS

319
156
699
90
1,264

1,177

(23,997)

(12,590)

6,885

2,423

NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO BIOTIME, INC.

$

(17,112) $

(10,167)

BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

$

(0.19) $

(0.13)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON STOCK OUTSTANDING: BASIC AND DILUTED
See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements.
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90,421

78,262

BIOTIME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(IN THOUSANDS)
(UNAUDITED)

NET LOSS
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Change in foreign currency translation
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO BIOTIME, INC. COMMON SHAREHOLDERS

Three Months Ended March 31,
2016
2015
$
(23,997) $
(12,590)

$

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements.
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127
49
(23,821)
6,885
(16,936) $

(53)
(12,643)
2,423
(10,220)

BIOTIME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)
(UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2016
2015
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss attributable to BioTime, Inc.
Net loss allocable to non-controlling interest
Adjustments to reconcile net loss attributable to BioTime, Inc. to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of deferred license fees
Amortization of prepaid rent in common stock
Stock-based compensation
Subsidiary shareholder expense for subsidiary warrants
Amortization of discount on related party convertible debt
Accrued interest on convertible debt
BioTime’s share of losses in equity method investment in Ascendance
Deferred income tax benefit
Deferred grant income
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts and grants receivable, net
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred rent liabilities
Deferred revenues
Net cash used in operating activities

$

(17,112) $
(6,885)

(10,167)
(2,423)

429
1,314
107
3,373
3,125
65
5
235
(243)

263
1,314
27
21
1,914
50
4
(1,177)
1,474

(36)
(259)
1,457
(6)
103
15
(14,313)

171
(33)
(61)
(365)
11
(62)
(30)
(9,069)

(583)
(815)
(267)
(1,665)

(77)
(296)
(373)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from exercises of stock options
Reimbursement from landlord on construction in progress
Repayment of capital lease obligation
Net proceeds from sale of common shares of subsidiary
Fees paid on sale of common shares of subsidiary
Net cash provided by financing activities

49
567
(17)
165
764

347
284
(14)
5,500
(433)
5,684

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

117

101

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of equipment and other assets
Restricted cash
Payments on construction in progress
Cash used in investing activities

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
At beginning of the period
At end of the period

(15,097)

$

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements.
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42,229
27,132

(3,657)

$

29,487
25,830

BIOTIME, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)
1.

Organization and Business Overview

General – BioTime, Inc. is a clinical-stage biotechnology company focused on developing and commercializing novel therapies developed from
two of its core technology platforms. The foundation of its core therapeutic technology platform is pluripotent stem cells that are capable of becoming any of
the cell types in the human body. Cell types derived from pluripotent stem cells have potential application in many areas of medicine with large unmet
patient needs, including various age-related degenerative diseases and degenerative conditions for which there presently are no cures. Unlike
pharmaceuticals, which almost always require a molecular target, therapeutic strategies based on the use of cell types derived from pluripotent stem cells are
generally aimed at regenerating or replacing affected cells and tissues, and therefore, may have broader applicability than pharmaceutical products.
BioTime’s pluripotent stem cell technology is complemented by its HyStem® technology for the delivery and engraftment of cells, whether derived from
pluripotent stem cells or the patient’s own somatic stem cells, at the desired location.
In order to efficiently advance product candidates through the clinical trial process, BioTime historically created operating subsidiaries for each
program and product line. Management believes this approach has fostered efficient use of resources and reduced shareholder dilution as compared to
strategies commonly deployed by the biotechnology industry, as the various programs and product lines have advanced through basic research and animal
studies. As a result, BioTime has developed multiple clinical-stage products rather than being dependent on a single product program. BioTime and its
subsidiaries have received substantial amounts of non-dilutive financial support from government and nonprofit organizations that are seeking, based on
rigorous scientific review processes, to identify and accelerate the development of potential breakthroughs in the treatment of various major diseases.
BioTime currently has two subsidiaries whose common stock is traded publicly, Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (NYSE MKT: AST) and OncoCyte Corporation
(NYSE MKT: OCX).
BioTime and its subsidiaries now have four therapeutic product candidates in human clinical trials. Renevia ®, a potential treatment for HIV related
facial lipoatrophy, is currently in a pivotal clinical trial in Europe to assess its efficacy in restoring normal skin contours in patients whose subcutaneous fat,
or adipose tissue, has been lost due to antiviral drug treatment for HIV. Renevia ® consists of BioTime’s proprietary cell-transplantation delivery matrix
(HyStem®) combined with the patient’s own adipose cells. AST-VAC1 is a cancer immunotherapy with promising Phase II clinical trial data in acute myeloid
leukemia. Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (“Asterias”), one of BioTime’s subsidiaries, currently plans to submit a request for a Special Protocol Assessment to
the FDA to confirm the primary endpoint and other design elements of a pivotal Phase 3 trial of AST-VAC1. OpRegen ® is a potential therapy derived from
pluripotent stem cells for the treatment of the dry form of age-related macular degeneration, and is currently in a Phase I/IIa clinical trial. AST-OPC1 is a
product candidate derived from pluripotent stem cells that is currently in a Phase I/II clinical trial, run by Asterias for spinal cord injuries.
2.

Basis of Presentation, Liquidity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements presented herein, and discussed below, have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article
10 of Regulation S-X of the Securities Exchange Commission. In accordance with those rules and regulations certain information and footnote disclosures
normally included in comprehensive consolidated financial statements have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. The
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015 was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date, but does not include all the
information and footnotes required by GAAP. These condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in BioTime’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.
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The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments, consisting only of
normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of BioTime’s financial condition and results of operations. The condensed consolidated results
of operations are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any other interim period or for the entire year.
Principles of consolidation – All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. BioTime consolidated
Asterias, ReCyte Therapeutics, Inc. (“ReCyte”), OncoCyte Corporation (“OncoCyte”), OrthoCyte Corporation (“OrthoCyte”), ES Cell International, Pte Ltd
(“ESI”), Cell Cure Neurosciences, Ltd (“Cell Cure Neurosciences”) BioTime Asia, Limited (“BioTime Asia”), LifeMap Sciences, Inc. (“LifeMap Sciences”)
LifeMap Sciences, Ltd., and LifeMap Solutions, Inc., as BioTime has the ability to control their operating and financial decisions and policies through its
ownership, and the non-controlling interest is reflected as a separate element of shareholders' equity on BioTime’s condensed consolidated balance sheets.
Liquidity – Since inception, BioTime has incurred significant operating losses and has funded its operations primarily through the issuance of
equity securities, payments from research grants, royalties from product sales and sales of research products and services. At March 31, 2016, BioTime had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $246 million, working capital of $19.2 million and shareholders’ equity of $59.6 million. BioTime has evaluated its
projected cash flows for it and its subsidiaries and believes that its cash and cash equivalents, available for sale securities and landlord receivable of $28.9
million as of March 31, 2016, will be sufficient to fund its operations through 2016 (see Note 12). However, clinical trials being conducted by BioTime’s
subsidiaries, Asterias and Cell Cure Neurosciences will be funded in part with funds from grants and not from cash on hand. If either Asterias or Cell Cure
Neurosciences were to lose its grant funding, it may be required to delay, postpone, or cancel its clinical trials or limit the number of clinical trial sites, or
otherwise reduce or curtail its operations unless it is able to obtain adequate financing from another source that could be used for its clinical trial. Also,
OncoCyte will need to raise additional capital during 2016 if, based on the results of its research and development efforts, it determines to establish a CLIA
certified laboratory and commence marketing its first cancer diagnostic test.
Basic and diluted net loss per share – BioTime applies the two-class method for calculating basic earnings per share. Under the two-class method,
net income, if any, will be reduced by preferred stock dividends and the residual amount is allocated between common stock and other participating
securities based on their participation rights. Participating securities are comprised of Series A convertible preferred stock and participate in dividends,
whether declared or not. Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income or loss attributable to BioTime common shareholders by the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding, net of unvested restricted stock subject to repurchase by BioTime, if any, during the period. For
periods in which BioTime reported a net loss, the participating securities are not contractually obligated to share in the losses of BioTime, and accordingly,
no losses have been allocated to the participating securities. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss attributable to
BioTime common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of potentially dilutive common
stock, which are comprised of stock options and warrants, using the treasury-stock method, and convertible preferred stock, using the if-converted method.
Because BioTime reported losses attributable to common stockholders for all periods presented, all potentially dilutive common shares are antidilutive for
those periods. Diluted net loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 excludes any effect from 4,472,586 treasury shares, 5,453,979
options and 9,394,862 warrants and 4,893,942 treasury shares, 4,266,605 options and 9,194,679 warrants, respectively, because their inclusion would be
antidilutive.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – The following accounting standards, which are not yet effective, are presently being evaluated by
BioTime to determine the impact that they might have on its consolidated financial statements.
In April 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-10, “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing”. The amendments clarify two aspects of Topic 606: (a)
identifying performance obligations; and (b) the licensing implementation guidance. The update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15,
2017 including interim reporting periods therein. BioTime is currently evaluating the impact, if any, the adoption of ASU 2016-10 will have on its
consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting”, which simplifies several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences,
forfeitures, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and classification on the statement of cash flows. The update is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2016. BioTime is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of ASU 2016-09 will have on its consolidated financial
statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)”, which requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for leases with
lease terms greater than twelve months in the statement of financial position. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification
affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. ASU 2016-02 also requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements
better understand the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. The update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2018, including interim reporting periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted. BioTime is currently evaluating the impact that the
adoption of ASU 2016-02 will have on its consolidated financial statements.
On January 5, 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01: “Financial Instruments–Overall: Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities”. Changes to the current GAAP model primarily affects the accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under the fair value
option, and the presentation and disclosure requirements for financial instruments. In addition, the FASB clarified guidance related to the valuation
allowance assessment when recognizing deferred tax assets resulting from unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities. The most significant
amendment was to equity investments. All equity investments in unconsolidated entities (other than those accounted for using the equity method of
accounting) will generally be measured at fair value through earnings. There will no longer be an available-for-sale classification (with changes in fair value
reported in other comprehensive income) for equity securities with readily determinable fair values. The amendment also allows equity investments that do
not have readily determinable fair values to be remeasured at fair value either upon the occurrence of an observable price change or upon identification of an
impairment. The amendments also require enhanced disclosures about those investments. ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. BioTime is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of ASU 2016-01 will have on its
consolidated financial statements.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes”, which changes
how deferred taxes are classified on a company’s balance sheet. The ASU eliminates the current requirement to present deferred tax liabilities and assets as
current and noncurrent on the balance sheet. Instead, companies will be required to classify all deferred tax assets and liabilities as noncurrent. The
amendments are effective for annual financial statements beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. BioTime does
not expect that the adoption of ASU 2015-17 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, "Presentation of Financial Statements-Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern". ASU No. 2014-15 defines management's responsibility to assess an entity's ability
to continue as a going concern, and to provide related footnote disclosures in certain circumstances. It is effective for annual reporting periods ending after
December 15, 2016, and for annual and interim reporting periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. BioTime has not elected early adoption and believes
the impact of the adoption of ASU No. 2014-15 could have a material adverse impact on BioTime’s consolidated financial statements.
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3.

Property, plant and equipment, net and construction in progress

At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, property, plant and equipment, and construction in progress were comprised of the following (in
thousands):
March 31, 2016
December 31,
(Unaudited)
2015
$
11,493 $
10,757
1,318
93
(3,879)
(3,311)
$
8,932 $
7,539

Property, plant and equipment
Construction in progress
Accumulated depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, net

Depreciation expense amounted to $429,000 and $263,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Construction in progress
Construction in progress of approximately $1.3 million as of March 31, 2016 relates entirely to the improvements in progress for BioTime’s new
Alameda facility (see Note 11). Under the terms of the lease agreement, the landlord has provided BioTime with an initial tenant improvement allowance of
up to $1.4 million, which BioTime is using to construct a research and development laboratory, a diagnostic testing laboratory, and a small production
facility that can be used to manufacture small cell banks and clinical materials for clinical studies. BioTime has an additional landlord allowance of up to
$308,000 to be used for eligible construction costs after the initial allowance is fully utilized, subject to landlord approval. As of March 31, 2016, of the $1.4
million initial allowance, $1.1 million qualifies for reimbursement and approximately $0.3 million was available to be used on eligible construction costs.
The remaining construction in progress of approximately $200,000 as of March 31, 2016 is related to tenant improvements and construction costs that are
not reimbursable by the landlord. The facility is expected to be substantially completed and placed into service in the third quarter of 2016.
4.

Intangible assets, net

At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, intangible assets and intangible assets net of amortization were comprised of the following (in
thousands):
March 31, 2016
December 31,
(Unaudited)
2015
$
52,563 $
52,563
(20,285)
(18,971)
$
32,278 $
33,592

Intangible assets
Accumulated amortization
Intangible assets, net

BioTime recognized $1.3 million in amortization expense of intangible assets, included in research and development expenses, during the three
months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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5.

Investment in Common Stock of Ascendance Biotechnology, Inc.

On December 9, 2015, BioTime acquired a 51.2% equity interest in the common stock of Ascendance Biotechnology, Inc. (“Ascendance”) in
exchange for a group of assets and intellectual property licenses deemed to be a business, as defined by ASC 805, Business Combinations. Ascendance is a
privately-held company that markets its drug assay tests for use in drug-development and safety-testing of products in the pharmaceutical and chemical
industries and sells products for stem cell research. BioTime accounted for the Ascendance investment under the equity method of accounting since
Ascendance is deemed a variable interest entity (VIE), and while BioTime is able to exercise significant influence over Ascendance, BioTime does not have a
controlling financial interest nor is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of Ascendance.
During the three months ended March 31, 2016, a member of the Board of Directors of BioTime invested an additional $100,000 in Ascendance
decreasing BioTime’s ownership to 49.9%. BioTime’s share of net losses, including dilution losses due to decreased ownership in the Ascendance investment
recorded in the consolidated statements of operations during the three months ended March 31, 2016 was $235,000.
6.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31, 2016
(Unaudited)
$
4,546
5,222
809
97
$
10,674

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued bonuses
Other current liabilities
Total
7.

December 31,
2015
$
2,798
5,021
1,126
432
$
9,377

Related Party Transactions and Related Party Convertible Debt

BioTime currently pays $5,050 per month for the use of approximately 900 square feet of office space in New York City, which is made available to
BioTime on a month-by-month basis by one of its directors at an amount that approximates his cost.
In April and November 2015, Cell Cure Neurosciences issued certain convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes”) to a Cell Cure Neurosciences
shareholder other than BioTime in the principal amount of $188,000 and $66,000, respectively. In July and September 2014, Cell Cure Neurosciences issued
Convertible Notes to two Cell Cure Neurosciences shareholders other than BioTime in the principal amount of $471,000. One of the Cell Cure Neurosciences
shareholders who acquired Convertible Notes is considered a related party. The functional currency of Cell Cure Neurosciences is the Israeli New Shekel,
however the Convertible Notes are payable in United States dollars. The Convertible Notes bear a stated interest rate of 3% per annum. The total outstanding
principal balance of the Convertible Notes, with accrued interest, is due and payable on various maturity dates in July and September 2017. The outstanding
principal balance of the Convertible Notes with accrued interest is convertible into Cell Cure Neurosciences ordinary shares at a fixed conversion price of
$20 per share, at the election of the holder, at any time prior to maturity. Any conversion of the Convertible Notes must be settled with Cell Cure
Neurosciences ordinary shares and not with cash.
At March 31, 2016, the carrying value of the Convertible Notes was $394,000, comprised of principal and accrued interest of $753,000, net of
unamortized debt discount of $359,000. As of December 31, 2015, the carrying value of the Convertible Notes was $324,000, comprised of principal and
accrued interest of $748,000, net of unamortized debt discount of $424,000.
In January 2016 and December 2015, certain BioTime board members invested in Ascendance as individual investors concurrently with BioTime’s
investment in Ascendance as discussed in Note 5.
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8.

Shareholders' Equity

Preferred Shares
BioTime is authorized to issue 2,000,000 preferred shares. The preferred shares may be issued in one or more series as the board of directors may by
resolution determine. The board of directors is authorized to fix the number of shares of any series of preferred shares and to determine or alter the rights,
preferences, privileges, and restrictions granted to or imposed on the preferred shares as a class, or upon any wholly unissued series of any preferred shares.
The board of directors may, by resolution, increase or decrease (but not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding) the number of shares of
any series of preferred shares subsequent to the issue of shares of that series. There are no preferred shares issued and outstanding.
Common Shares
BioTime is authorized to issue 125,000,000 common shares with no par value. As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, BioTime had
94,894,140 issued and 90,421,554 outstanding common shares. The difference of 4,472,586 common shares as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 is
attributed to shares held by BioTime subsidiaries which are accounted for as treasury stock on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.
During the three months ended March 31, 2016, no options and no warrants were exercised.
Treasury Stock
Certain BioTime subsidiaries hold BioTime common shares that the subsidiaries received from BioTime in exchange for capital stock in the
subsidiaries. The BioTime common shares held by subsidiaries are treated as treasury stock by BioTime and BioTime does not recognize a gain or loss on the
sale of those shares by its subsidiaries.
Warrant distribution to subsidiary shareholders
On March 30, 2016, Asterias’ board of directors declared a distribution of Asterias common stock purchase warrants to all Asterias shareholders other
than BioTime, as mutually agreed upon by BioTime and Asterias, in the ratio of one warrant for every five shares of Asterias common stock owned of record
as of the close of business on April 11, 2016. On April 25, 2016, Asterias distributed 3,331,229 warrants. The distribution of the warrants is treated as a nonpro rata distribution because warrants were not distributed to BioTime. The warrants are classified as equity, have an exercise price of $5.00 per share, and
expire on September 30, 2016. Asterias recorded the warrants at a fair value of approximately $3.1 million with a noncash charge to shareholder expense
included in general and administrative expenses and a corresponding increase to equity in non-controlling interests of Asterias as of March 30, 2016 as the
warrants were deemed to be issued for financial reporting purposes on that date.
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9.

Stock Option Plans

BioTime has adopted a 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”) under which BioTime has reserved 10,000,000 common shares for the grant of
stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and stock appreciation rights.
A summary of BioTime’s 2012 Plan activity and related information follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Shares
Available
for Grant
5,257
(431)
72
4,898

December 31, 2015
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited/cancelled
March 31, 2016

Number of
Options
Outstanding
5,194 $
431
(171)
5,454 $

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
3.93
2.50
3.81
3.81

Stock-Based Compensation Expense
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option valuation model applying the weighted-average
assumptions noted in the following table:
March 31,
(Unaudited)
2016
Expected life (in years)
Risk-free interest rates
Volatility
Dividend yield

6.08
1.60%
62.05%
0%

2015
6.07
1.77%
68.57%
0%

Operating expenses include stock-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

Research and development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

$
$
13

Three Months Ended
March 31,
(Unaudited)
2016
2015
1,206 $
414
2,167
1,500
3,373 $
1,914

10.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is determined using an estimated annual effective tax rate. The effective tax rate may be subject to fluctuations
during the year as new information is obtained, which may affect the assumptions used to estimate the annual effective tax rate, including factors such as
valuation allowances against deferred tax assets, the recognition or de-recognition of tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions, if any, and changes in or
the interpretation of tax laws in jurisdictions where BioTime conducts business.
A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. BioTime
established a full valuation allowance as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 due to the uncertainty of realizing future tax benefits from its net
operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. Accordingly, BioTime did not record any provision or benefit for income taxes for the three months
ended March 31, 2016. An income tax benefit of approximately $1.2 million was recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2015, of which
approximately $1.3 million was related to federal taxes offset by $74,000 related to state taxes. The income tax benefit recorded for the three months ended
March 31, 2015 was primarily related to the deferred tax liabilities BioTime had recorded for its acquisition of certain intellectual property.
BioTime and Asterias completed certain transactions under a Cross-License Agreement and Share Transfer Agreement on February 16, 2016
pursuant to which BioTime transferred certain assets to Asterias. The asset transfer was a taxable transaction to BioTime generating a taxable gain of
approximately $3.1 million. BioTime has sufficient current year losses from operations to offset the entire gain resulting in no income taxes due. As the
transfer of assets and the resulting taxable gain is due to a direct effect of transactions between the parent company, BioTime, and its subsidiary, Asterias,
BioTime recorded the tax effects of this gain through equity in accordance with ASC 740-20-45-11(g).
11.

Commitments and Contingencies

Alameda Lease
On December 10, 2015, BioTime entered into a lease for approximately 30,795 square feet of rentable space in two buildings located in an office
park in Alameda, California (the “New Alameda Lease”). The term of the New Alameda Lease is seven years and BioTime has an option to renew the term for
an additional five years. BioTime moved into the administrative areas of the facility and the term of the New Alameda Lease commenced effective February
1, 2016.
The landlord will provide BioTime with an initial tenant improvement allowance of $1.4 million (the “Initial Allowance”) to be applied to the
construction of improvements for the leased premises, primarily for the research and development facilities. The allowance may be increased by an additional
amount of approximately $308,000 (the “Additional Allowance”), if BioTime so chooses (subject to landlord pre-approval of the costs). If BioTime does use
any of the Additional Allowance, that amount will be amortized and repaid to the landlord with interest at a rate of 10% per annum, amortized on a monthly
basis over the seven year term of the lease. Any unused balance of the Initial Allowance cannot be used against rent reduction and will expire unused.
BioTime expects to complete the leasehold improvements by the end of 2016.
BioTime is considered the owner of the tenant improvements under construction under ASC 840-40-55 as BioTime, among other things, has the
primary obligation to pay for construction costs and BioTime will retain exclusive use of the building for its office and research facility requirements after
construction is completed. In accordance with this guidance, amounts expended by BioTime for construction are reported as construction in progress, and the
proceeds received from the landlord are reported as a liability. Upon the property being placed in service, BioTime will depreciate the property and the lease
payments allocated to the landlord liability will be accounted for as debt service payments on that liability.
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As of March 31, 2016, $1.1 million of construction costs qualified for reimbursement and approximately $0.3 million of the Initial Allowance was
available for use on additional eligible construction costs. The remaining cost of construction in progress, estimated at $200,000 as of March 31, 2016, is
related to tenant improvements and construction costs that are not reimbursable by the landlord.
In connection with the New Alameda lease, BioTime may elect to maintain a letter of credit with its bank in lieu of the landlord holding a cash
security deposit of approximately $847,000, which BioTime had initially paid at the inception of the lease. BioTime satisfied the letter of credit requirement
by depositing $847,000 in a certificate of deposit with its bank as of March 31, 2016. The cash in the certificate of deposit is included in deposits and other
long-term assets as of March 31, 2016 because BioTime is restricted from using the cash for working capital purposes. Accordingly, BioTime will receive a
reimbursement from the landlord of the initial $847,000 security deposit paid included in landlord receivable as of March 31, 2016.
Base rent under the New Alameda Lease commenced on February 1, 2016 at $64,670 per month, and will increase by approximately 3% annually on
every February 1 thereafter during the lease term.
Fremont Lease
On December 30, 2013, Asterias entered into a lease for an office and research facility located in Fremont, California, consisting of an existing
building with approximately 44,000 square feet of space. The building will be used by Asterias primarily as a laboratory and production facility to produce
human embryonic stem cells and related products under current good manufacturing procedures. As of December 31, 2015 Asterias completed the tenant
improvements, which cost approximately $4.9 million, of which the maximum of $4.4 million was paid to Asterias by the landlord. The landlord’s obligation
to fund the tenant improvements expired on December 31, 2015.
As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the landlord liability was $4.3 million and $4.4 million and the deferred rent liability was $203,000
and $179,000, respectively.
Base rent increased to $105,000 per month on January 1, 2016, and will increase by approximately 3% annually on every October 1 thereafter
during the lease term.
Litigation – General
BioTime will be subject to various claims and contingencies in the ordinary course of its business, including those related to litigation, business
transactions, employee-related matters, and others. When BioTime is aware of a claim or potential claim, it assesses the likelihood of any loss or exposure. If
it is probable that a loss will result and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, BioTime will record a liability for the loss. If the loss is not
probable or the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated, BioTime discloses the claim if the likelihood of a potential loss is reasonably possible
and the amount involved could be material. BioTime is not aware of any claims likely to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of
operations.
Employment Contracts
BioTime has entered into employment agreements with certain executive officers. Under the provisions of the agreements, BioTime may be required
to incur severance obligations for matters relating to changes in control, as defined in the agreements, and involuntary terminations.
Indemnification
In the normal course of business, BioTime may provide indemnifications of varying scope under BioTime’s agreements with other companies or
consultants, typically BioTime’s clinical research organizations, investigators, clinical sites, suppliers and others. Pursuant to these agreements, BioTime will
generally agree to indemnify, hold harmless, and reimburse the indemnified parties for losses and expenses suffered or incurred by the indemnified parties
arising from claims of third parties in connection with the use or testing of BioTime’s products and services. Indemnification provisions could also cover
third party infringement claims with respect to patent rights, copyrights, or other intellectual property pertaining to BioTime products and services. The term
of these indemnification agreements will generally continue in effect after the termination or expiration of the particular research, development, services, or
license agreement to which they relate. The potential future payments BioTime could be required to make under these indemnification agreements will
generally not be subject to any specified maximum amount. Historically, BioTime has not been subject to any claims or demands for indemnification.
BioTime also maintains various liability insurance policies that limit BioTime’s financial exposure. As a result, BioTime believes the fair value of these
indemnification agreements is minimal. Accordingly, BioTime has not recorded any liabilities for these agreements as of March 31, 2016 and December 31,
2015.
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12.

Subsequent Events

On April 25, 2016, Asterias issued 3,331,229 common stock purchase warrants to all of its shareholders other than BioTime. The warrants are
classified as equity, have an exercise price of $5.00 per share, and expire on September 30, 2016. The warrants were deemed to be issued for financial
reporting purposes on March 30, 2016, the date on which the Asterias board of directors approved the distribution of the warrants (see Note 8).
On May 10, 2016, Asterias finalized the pricing of an underwritten public offering of 5,147,059 units at a public offering price of $3.40 per unit.
Each unit consists of one share of common stock and 0.5 of a warrant to purchase a share of common stock at an exercise price of $4.37 per share. The
warrants are immediately exercisable and expire on the fifth anniversary of the date of issuance. The offering is expected to close on May 13, 2016, subject to
customary closing conditions. If completed, Asterias would receive net proceeds of $16,275,000 after underwriting discounts but before paying other costs of
the offering. Asterias has granted the underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 772,059 shares of common stock and/or additional
warrants to purchase up to 386,029 shares of common stock to cover over-allotments, if any. Asterias will use the proceeds for general corporate purposes,
including for clinical trials, research and development, capital expenditures and working capital. Neither BioTime, nor any other subsidiary of BioTime, may
use Asterias’ proceeds for their working capital needs.
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The matters addressed in this Item 2 that are not historical information constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including statements about any of the following: any
projections of earnings, revenue, gross profit, cash, effective tax rate, use of net operating losses, or any other financial items; the plans, strategies and
objectives of management for future operations or prospects for achieving such plans; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.
Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. Without limiting the foregoing,
the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “seeks,” “estimates,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
While BioTime may elect to update forward-looking statements in the future, it specifically disclaims any obligation to do so, even if the BioTime’s estimates
change, and readers should not rely on those forward-looking statements as representing BioTime’s views as of any date subsequent to the date of the filing
of this Quarterly Report. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, such statements are
inherently subject to risks and BioTime can give no assurances that its expectations will prove to be correct. Actual results could differ materially from
those described in this Quarterly Report because of numerous factors, many of which are beyond the control of BioTime. A number of important factors
could cause the results of the company to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements, including those detailed under the
heading “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of BioTime’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with BioTime interim condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes
provided under “Item 1- Financial Statements” above.
Critical Accounting Policies
This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses and analyzes data in our unaudited
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, which we have prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Preparation of
these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Senior management has discussed the development, selection and disclosure of these
estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. Actual conditions may differ from our assumptions and actual results may differ from our
estimates.
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An accounting policy is deemed critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highly
uncertain at the time the estimate is made, if different estimates reasonably could have been used, or if changes in the estimate that are reasonably likely to
occur could materially impact the financial statements. Management believes that there have been no significant changes during the three months ended
March 31, 2016 to the items that we disclosed as our critical accounting policies and estimates in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Results of Operations
Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands).
Three Months Ended March 31,
$ Increase/
2016
2015
Decrease
$
420 $
319 $
+101
123
156
-33
1,487
699
+788
43
90
-47
2,073
1,264
+809
(225)
(264)
-39
1,848
1,000
+848

Subscription and advertisement revenues
Royalty from product sales
Grant income
Sales of research products and services
Total revenues
Cost of sales
Total revenues, net

% Increase/
Decrease
+32%
-21%
+113%
-52%
+64%
-15%
+85%

Our license fee revenues amounted to $420,000 and $319,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. License fee
revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 primarily includes subscription and advertising revenues from LifeMap Sciences’ online
database business primarily related to its GeneCards® database. The amount in 2016 also includes quarterly amortization of $77,000 of a $1.0 million
upfront license fee payment to OrthoCyte from Heraeus Medical GmbH (“Heraeus”) under a Research and Development Agreement executed in September
2015.
Our royalty revenues from product sales for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 primarily consist of royalties earned by Asterias under
various license agreements in the amount of $107,000 and $102,000, respectively.
Total grant revenue for the first three months of 2016 increased by approximately 113% to $1.5 million. Grant revenue for the first three months of
2016 consisted entirely of payments to Asterias from the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine (“CIRM”).
Cost of sales for the first three months in 2016 decreased by approximately $39,000 in line with the decrease in the various streams of revenues other
than grant income.
Three Months Ended March 31,
$ Increase/
2016
2015
Decrease
$
(13,734) $
(9,323) $
+4,411
(11,872)
(5,179)
+6,693
(132)
(25)
+107
(235)
+235
128
(240)
-368

Research and development expenses
General and administrative expenses
Interest expense, net
Loss on equity method investment
Other income/(expense), net
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% Increase/
Decrease
+47%
+129%
+428%
+100%
-153%

Research and development expenses – Research and development expenses increased approximately 47% to $13.7 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2016, from $9.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The increase is primarily attributable to the following increases in
expense: $2.6 million of consulting and outside research and services, including stock-based compensation to consultants, primarily related to regulatory
and clinical trials of Asterias’ AST-OPC1 and OncoCyte’s cancer diagnostic tests; $1.2 million of employee compensation, including stock-based
compensation and related costs; $448,000 of patent, license, and trademark related fees; $249,000 in laboratory expenses and supplies; $147,000 of rent and
facilities maintenance related expenses; and $123,000 in depreciation expenses allocated to research and development expenses. These increases were in part
offset by a reduction of $265,000 related to disposal of our ESI-BIO division in December 2015 pursuant to our Ascendance investment.
The following table shows the amount of our total research and development expenses allocated to our primary research and development projects
during the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands).
Company
Asterias Biotherapeutics(2)
BioTime and ESI
BioTime
BioTime
Cell Cure Neurosciences
LifeMap Sciences(2)
OncoCyte
OrthoCyte
ReCyte Therapeutics
Total

Program
Pluripotent cell therapy programs
$
PureStem® progenitor and pluripotent
cell lines, and related research products
Hydrogel products and HyStem®
research
Hextend ®
OpRegen ®
Databases and mobile health products
Cancer diagnostics
Orthopedic therapy
Cardiovascular therapy
$

Amount(1)
2016
2015
6,340 $
3,593

Percent
2016

2015
46.2%

38.5%

1,656

1,126

12.0%

12.1%

958
13
902
1,648
1,835
179
203
13,734

980
13
907
1,219
1,029
180
276
9,323

6.9%
0.1%
6.6%
12.0%
13.4%
1.3%
1.5%
100.0%

10.5%
0.1%
9.7%
13.1%
11.0%
2.0%
3.0%
100.0%

$

(1)

Amount also includes research and development expenses incurred directly by the subsidiary and certain general research and development
expenses, such as lab supplies, lab expenses, rent allocated, and insurance allocated to research and development expenses, incurred directly by
BioTime on behalf of the subsidiary and allocated to the subsidiary.

(2)

Includes LifeMap Solutions

General and administrative expenses – General and administrative expenses increased to $11.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016
from $5.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The increase is primarily attributable to the following increases in expense: $3.1 million noncash expense for the estimated fair value of the distribution of 3,331,229 warrants to purchase Asterias common stock declared by the Asterias board of
directors during March 2016; $2.3 million in employee compensation, including employee bonus accruals, stock-based compensation and related costs
allocated to general and administrative expenses; $351,000 in cash and stock-based compensation to outside directors; $320,000 in legal fees; $261,000 in
accounting, audit and tax related expense; $156,000 in investor and public relations related expenses and $97,000 in Cell Cure related expenses. These
increases are in part offset by decreases of $186,000 related to disposal of our ESI-BIO division in December 2015 pursuant to our Ascendance investment
and $108,000 in general consultant expenses.
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General and administrative expenses include employee and director compensation allocated to general and administrative expenses, consulting fees
other than those paid for science-related consulting, facilities and equipment rent and maintenance related expenses, insurance costs allocated to general and
administrative expenses, stock exchange-related costs, depreciation expense, marketing costs, legal and accounting costs, and other miscellaneous expenses
which are allocated to general and administrative expense.
The following table shows the amount of our general and administrative expenses and those related to our subsidiaries during the three months
ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands).
Company
BioTime
Asterias Biotherapeutics
Cell Cure Neurosciences
ESI
LifeMap Sciences(2)
OncoCyte
OrthoCyte
ReCyte Therapeutics
Total

$

$

Amount(1)
2016
2015
2,422 $
1,015
6,217
1,672
333
149
44
72
773
1,717
1,751
250
171
179
161
125
11,872 $
5,179

Percent
2016
20.4%
52.4%
2.8%
0.4%
6.5%
14.7%
1.4%
1.4%
100.0%

2015
19.6%
32.3%
2.8%
1.4%
33.2%
4.8%
3.5%
2.4%
100.0%

(1)

Amount includes general and administrative expenses incurred directly by the subsidiary and allocations from BioTime for certain general
overhead expenses.

(2)

Includes LifeMap Solutions

Interest income/(expense) – During the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, we incurred $132,000 and $25,000 of net interest expense,
respectively.
Loss on equity method investment – During the three months ended March 31, 2016, we recognized $235,000 in our share of losses from our equity
method investment in Ascendance, including $44,000 in dilution loss due our decreased ownership percentage of Ascendance.
Other income/(expense), net – Other income, net in 2016 consists primarily of net foreign currency transaction gains recognized by ESI and by Cell
Cure Neurosciences.
Income Taxes – We established a full valuation allowance as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 due to the uncertainty of realizing future tax
benefits from our net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets. Accordingly, we did not record any provision or benefit for income taxes for
the three months ended March 31, 2016. For the same period in 2015, an income tax benefit of approximately $1.2 million was recorded, of which
approximately $1.3 million of the benefit was related to federal offset by $74,000 provision related to state taxes.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
At March 31, 2016, we had $27.1 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand of which $16.4 million was held by subsidiaries.
Based on the March 31, 2016 closing prices of Asterias and OncoCyte common stock on the NYSE MKT, the shares of Asterias and OncoCyte
owned by BioTime had an estimated market value of $102 million and $68 million, respectively, or an aggregate market value of $170 million on that
date. BioTime has no present plan to liquidate its holdings of Asterias or OncoCyte shares and, the market values shown may not represent the amount that
could be realized in a sale of Asterias or OncoCyte shares due to various market and regulatory factors, including trading volume or market depth factors and
volume and manner of sale restrictions under Federal securities laws, prevailing market conditions and prices at the time of any sale, and subsequent sales of
securities by the subsidiaries.
On May 10, 2016, Asterias finalized the pricing of an underwritten public offering of 5,147,059 units at a public offering price of $3.40 per unit.
Each unit consists of one share of common stock and 0.5 of a warrant to purchase a share of common stock at an exercise price of $4.37 per share. The
warrants are immediately exercisable and expire on the fifth anniversary of the date of issuance. The offering is expected to close on May 13, 2016, subject to
customary closing conditions. If completed, Asterias would receive net proceeds of $16,275,000 after underwriting discounts but before paying other costs of
the offering. Asterias has granted the underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 772,059 shares of common stock and/or additional
warrants to purchase up to 386,029 shares of common stock to cover over-allotments, if any. Asterias will use the proceeds for general corporate purposes,
including for clinical trials, research and development, capital expenditures and working capital. Neither BioTime, nor any other subsidiary of BioTime, may
use Asterias’ proceeds for their working capital needs.
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If the above financing transaction is completed, our ownership percentage in Asterias will decrease to below 50%, at which point we may
deconsolidate Asterias’ financial statements and results of operations from BioTime. This deconsolidation could result in a material change to our
consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of operations, of cash flows and of equity, with the net impact of that deconsolidation included as a
noncash gain or loss in our consolidated statements of operations on the date of deconsolidation. This gain or loss could be material to our consolidated
financial statements and we are currently unable to estimate the deconsolidation gain or loss as of the date of this report.
We have outstanding warrants to purchase 9,394,862 of our common shares at an exercise price of $4.55 per share that will expire on dates ranging
from June 5, 2018 through September 30, 2018. We will receive $42.7 million if all of the warrants are exercised. There can be no assurance that the warrants
will be exercised.
Asterias was awarded a $14.3 million Strategic Partnership III grant by CIRM to help fund its clinical development of AST-OPC1 in 2014. The grant
will provide funding for Asterias to conduct a Phase I/IIa clinical trial of AST-OPC1 in subjects with complete cervical spinal cord injury, and for product
development efforts to refine and scale manufacturing methods to support eventual commercialization. CIRM will disburse the grant funds to Asterias
through July 1, 2018 upon Asterias attaining certain progress milestones. Asterias received approximately $7.8 million in installment payments from CIRM
from 2014 through March 31, 2016. As the distribution of the balance of the CIRM grant is subject to meeting certain progress milestones, there can be no
assurance that Asterias will receive the entire amount granted.
Since inception, we have incurred significant net losses and have funded our operations primarily through the issuance of equity securities,
payments from research grants, royalties from product sales and sales of research products and services. At March 31, 2016, BioTime had an accumulated
deficit of approximately $246 million, working capital of $19.2 million and shareholders’ equity of $59.6 million. We have evaluated projected cash flows
for us and our subsidiaries and we believe that our consolidated cash, cash equivalents, available for sale securities and landlord receivable of $28.9 million
as of March 31, 2016, will be sufficient to fund our operations through 2016. However, clinical trials being conducted by Asterias and Cell Cure
Neurosciences will be funded in part with funds from grants and not from cash on hand. If Asterias or Cell Cure Neurosciences were to lose its grant funding it
may be required to delay, postpone, or cancel its clinical trials or limit the number of clinical trial sites, or otherwise reduce or curtail its operations unless it
is able to obtain from another source of adequate financing that could be used for its clinical trial. OncoCyte will need to raise additional capital during 2016
if, based on the results of its research and development efforts, it determines to establish a diagnostic testing laboratory and commences efforts to
commercialize its first cancer diagnostic test.
Cash used in operations
During the three months ended March 31, 2016, our total research and development expenses were $13.7 million and our general and administrative
expenditures were $11.9 million. Net loss attributable to BioTime for the three months ended March 31, 2016 amounted to $17.1 million. Net cash used in
operating activities during this period amounted to $14.3 million. The difference between the net loss and net cash used in operating activities during the
three months ended March 31, 2016 was primarily attributable to $3.4 million in non-cash stock-based compensation, $3.1 million shareholder non-cash
expense representing the estimated fair value of Asterias warrants distributable to Asterias shareholders other than BioTime, amortization of $1.3 million in
intangible assets, $429,000 in depreciation expenses, $1.5 million in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, $103,000 in deferred rent liabilities, $235,000
on loss on equity investment, amortization of $15,000 in deferred license revenues, and amortization of $65,000 of discount on convertible debt. This overall
difference was offset to some extent by $259,000 in prepaid expenses and other current assets, $243,000 in deferred grant income, and net loss of $6.9 million
allocable to the non-controlling interest in our subsidiaries.
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Cash flows from investing activities
During the three months ended March 31, 2016, we used $1.7 million in cash for investing activities. The primary components of this cash were
purchases of equipment of $583,000, payments on construction in progress of $267,000 and restricted cash of $847,000 held in a certificate of deposit
securing a letter of credit issued by our bank as security deposit for the New Alameda Lease, offset by $32,000 in cash received from other long term deposits.
Cash generated by financing activities
During the three months ended March 31, 2016, Asterias received net proceeds of $165,000 from the sale of its common stock at a weighted average
price of $4.14 per share in “at-the-market” transactions through a broker-dealer acting as sales agent.
We also received $49,000 in cash from the exercise of subsidiary stock options.
Our subsidiary Asterias received a $567,000 reimbursement payment from its landlord for tenant improvements as permitted under the $4.4 million
tenant improvement allowance.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC
Regulation S-K.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
There have been no material changes in our qualitative and quantitative market risk since the disclosures in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2015.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
It is management’s responsibility to establish and maintain adequate internal control over all financial reporting pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”). Our management, including our principal executive officers and our principal financial officer, have
reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Following this review
and evaluation, management collectively determined that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act (i) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in SEC rules and forms; and (ii) is accumulated and communicated to management, including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we and our subsidiaries may be involved in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of our business. We are not presently a
party to any pending litigation.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Our business is subject to various risks, including those described below. You should consider the following risk factors, together with all of the
other information included in this report and the risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, which could
materially adversely affect our proposed operations, business prospects, and financial condition, and the value of an investment in our business. There may
be other factors that are not mentioned here or of which we are not presently aware that could also affect our business operations and prospects.
We have incurred operating losses since inception and we do not know if we will attain profitability
Our net losses for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, were $24 million, $58.1
million and $43.8 million, respectively, and we had an accumulated deficit of $246 million as of March 31, 2016. We primarily finance our operations
through the sale of equity securities, licensing fees, royalties on product sales by our licensees, research grants, and subscription fees and advertising revenue
from database products. Ultimately, our ability to generate sufficient operating revenue to earn a profit depends upon our and our subsidiaries’ success in
developing and marketing or licensing products and technology.
We will spend a substantial amount of our capital on research and development but we might not succeed in developing products and technologies that
are useful in medicine
·

We are attempting to develop new medical products and technology

·

Many of our experimental products and technologies have not been applied in human medicine and have only been used in laboratory studies in
vitro or in animals. These new products and technologies might not prove to be safe and efficacious in the human medical applications for which
they were developed.

·

The experimentation we are doing is costly, time consuming, and uncertain as to its results. We incurred research and development expenses
amounting to $13.7 million during the three months ended March 31, 2016, and $42.6 million and $37.5 million during the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

·

If we are successful in developing a new technology or product, refinement of the new technology or product and definition of the practical
applications and limitations of the technology or product may take years and require the expenditure of large sums of money. Future clinical trials of
new therapeutic products, particularly those products that are regulated as drugs or biological, will be very expensive and will take years to
complete. We may not have the financial resources to fund clinical trials on our own and we may have to enter into licensing or collaborative
arrangements with larger, well-capitalized pharmaceutical companies in order to bear the cost. Any such arrangements may be dilutive to our
ownership or economic interest in the products we develop, and we might have to accept a royalty payment on the sale of the product rather than
receiving the gross revenues from product sales.
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The amount and pace of research and development work that we and our subsidiaries can do or sponsor, and our ability to commence and complete
clinical trials required to obtain regulatory approval to market our therapeutic and medical device products, depends upon the amount of money we
have
·

At March 31, 2016, we had $27.1 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand, of which $16.4 million was held by our subsidiaries. On May 10,
2016, our subsidiary Asterias priced an underwritten public offering to issue 5,147,059 shares of its common stock and 2,573,530 warrants to
purchase its common stock, which if completed, will raise proceeds of approximately $16,275,000 after underwriting discounts, but there can be no
assurance that we or our subsidiaries will be able to raise additional funds on favorable terms or at all, or that any funds raised will be sufficient to
permit us or our subsidiaries to develop and market our products and technology. Unless we and our subsidiaries are able to generate sufficient
revenue or raise additional funds when needed, it is likely that we will be unable to continue our planned activities, even if we make progress in our
research and development projects.

·

We may have to postpone or limit the pace of our research and development work and planned clinical trials of our product candidates unless our
cash resources increase through a growth in revenues or additional equity investment or borrowing.

Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.

Item 3.

Default Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.

Item 5.

Other Information

On May 10, 2016, our subsidiary Asterias entered into an Underwriting Agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with Raymond James &
Associates, Inc., as representative of the several underwriters listed therein (collectively, the “Underwriters”), with respect to the issuance and sale in an
underwritten public offering (the “Offering”) by Asterias of an aggregate of 5,147,059 shares of its common stock ("Asterias Common Stock"), and warrants to
purchase up to an aggregate of 2,573,530 shares of Asterias Common Stock at an exercise price of $4.37 per whole share of Asterias Common Stock. The
shares of Asterias Common Stock and warrants will be sold in units, with each unit consisting of one share of Asterias Common Stock and 0.5 of a warrant;
each full warrant entitling the holder to purchase one share of Asterias Common Stock. The units will be sold at a price of $3.40 per unit. The shares of
Asterias Common Stock and warrants will be mandatorily separable immediately upon issuance, and the warrants will expire five (5) years from the date of
issuance which is expected to be May 13, 2016. The warrants will not be listed on the NYSE MKT or any other securities exchange.
The Underwriters will purchase the units from Asterias at a price of $3.162 per unit, representing a 7.0% discount from the public offering price.
Raymond James & Associates, Inc. is acting as the sole book-running manager for the Offering. Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, Asterias also granted
the Underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 772,059 shares of Asterias Common Stock at a price of $3.1527 per share and/or additional
warrants to purchase up to 386,029 shares of Asterias Common Stock at a price of $0.0093 per warrant to cover over-allotments, if any.
The warrants will be exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part by delivering to Asterias a duly executed exercise notice and
payment in full of the exercise price within two trading days in available funds for the number of shares of common stock purchased upon such exercise. If a
registration statement registering the issuance or the resale of the shares of common stock underlying the warrants under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, is not effective or available, the holder may, in its sole discretion, elect to exercise the warrant through a cashless exercise, in which case the holder
would receive upon such exercise the net number of shares of Asterias Common Stock determined according to the formula set forth in the warrant. No
fractional shares of Asterias Common Stock will be issued in connection with the exercise of a warrant. In the event of a fundamental transaction, as described
in the warrants and generally including any reorganization, recapitalization or reclassification of Asterias Common Stock, the sale, transfer or other
disposition of all or substantially all of Asterias’ properties or assets, a consolidation or merger with or into another person, the acquisition of more than 50%
of the outstanding Asterias Common Stock, or any person or group becoming the beneficial owner of 50% of the voting power represented by the
outstanding Asterias Common Stock, the holders of the warrants will be entitled to receive upon exercise of the warrants the kind and amount of securities,
cash or other property that the holders would have received had they exercised the warrants immediately prior to such fundamental transaction. In addition,
in the event of a fundamental transaction, Asterias or any successor entity will be required to purchase at a holder’s option, exercisable at any time
concurrently with or within thirty (30) days after the consummation of the fundamental transaction, such holder’s warrants for cash in an amount equal to the
value of the unexercised portion of such holder’s warrants, determined in accordance with the Black Scholes option pricing model as specified in the
warrants. The warrants will be issued pursuant to a warrant agreement to be entered into by and between Asterias and American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, as warrant agent.
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The Offering is expected to close on May13, 2016, subject to the satisfaction of customary closing conditions. Asterias expects to receive
approximately $16,275,000 after underwriting discounts but before paying other costs of the Offering, or approximately $18,716,250 after underwriting
discounts but before paying other costs of the Offering if the Underwriter’s over-allotment option is exercised in full, not including any proceeds that Asterias
may receive from the exercise of warrants. Asterias currently intends to use the estimated net proceeds from the Offering for general corporate purposes,
including for clinical trials, research and development, capital expenditures and working capital.
The Offering is being made pursuant to Asterias’ existing shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-200745) initially filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on December 4, 2014, and declared effective on January 22, 2015. A preliminary prospectus supplement
relating to the Offering was filed with the Commission on May 9, 2016 and a final prospectus supplement will be filed with the SEC on or about May 10,
2016.
The Underwriting Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, conditions to closing, indemnification obligations of Asterias and
the Underwriters, including for liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, other obligations of the parties, and termination provisions. In
addition, pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement and related “lock-up” agreements, Asterias and each director and executive officer of Asterias
has agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of securities of Asterias during the 90-day period following the date of the
Underwriting Agreement, subject to extension in certain circumstances.
The representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Underwriting Agreement were made only for purposes of such agreement and as of
specific dates, were solely for the benefit of the parties to the Underwriting Agreement, and may be subject to limitations agreed upon by the parties,
including being qualified by confidential disclosures exchanged between the parties in connection with the execution of the Underwriting Agreement.
The foregoing description of the terms of the Underwriting Agreement and the warrants does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and
qualified in its entirety by reference to, the full text of the Underwriting Agreement and the form of Warrant Agreement, including the form of warrant
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Item 6.

Exhibits

Exhibit
Numbers

Description

3.1

Articles of Incorporation with all amendments (1)

3.2

By-Laws, as Amended (2)

10.1

License Agreement, dated January 22, 2016, between OncoCyte Corporation and The Wistar Institute of Anatomy and Biology (Portions of this
exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment) (3)

10.2

First Amendment to License Agreement, dated January 25, 2016, between OncoCyte Corporation and The Wistar Institute of Anatomy and
Biology(3)

10.3

Separation Agreement, as of March 10, 2016, between Pedro Lichtinger and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. *

10.4

Amendment to the Notice of Award from the California Institute of Regenerative Medicine dated March 2, 2016 (Portions of this exhibit have
been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment) *

10.5

Warrant Agreement between Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company *

31

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification*

32

Section 1350 Certification*

101

Interactive Data Files

101 INS

XBRL Instance Document*

101SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema*

101CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase*

101LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase*

101PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase*

101DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Document*

(1)

Incorporated by reference to BioTime’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A-1 for the year ended December 31, 2013 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 29, 2014.

(2)

Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1, File Number 33-48717 and Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 thereto filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 22, 1992, and August 27, 1992, respectively.

(3)

Incorporated by reference to BioTime’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.

*

Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
BIOTIME, INC.
Date: May 10, 2016

/s/ Michael D. West
Michael D. West
Co-Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 10, 2016

/s/ Aditya Mohanty
Aditya Mohanty
Co-Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 10, 2016

/s/ Russell Skibsted
Russell Skibsted
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.3

March 10, 2016
Pedro Lichtinger
Re:

Separation Agreement and Release of All Claims

Dear Pedro:
1.

This letter will confirm our agreement (“Agreement”) concerning your separation from employment with Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (“Asterias” or
“Company”).

2.

Your employment with Asterias terminated on February 29, 2016 at 12:01am Pacific Time. (“Separation Date”) Your Employment Agreement
terminated on your Separation Date.

3.

Within five (5) business days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, Asterias will pay you Severance in the amount of $226,200, less withholding.

4.

Within five (5) business days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, Asterias will also pay you $248,800, less withholding, which represents your
total potential bonus opportunity.

5.

On your Separation Date you were paid all accrued but unpaid wages ($16,958.33) and accrued but unused vacation ($19,958.65), all less
withholding, irrespective of whether you sign the Agreement.

6.

On or before March 14, 2016, you will deliver to Asterias’ Chief Executive Officer an expense report for reasonable and necessary business expenses
you have incurred since you submitted your last expense report. The expense report shall have attached supporting documentation. Such
reasonable and necessary business expenses shall be paid to you within ten (10) business days of your delivery of the expense report to the Chief
Executive Officer.

7.

You will receive accelerated vesting of fifty percent (50%) of the unvested stock options granted to you as of your Separation Date.

8.

You will receive accelerated vesting of the remaining 5,983 shares of unvested restricted stock that you have been awarded in connection with your
2014 bonus and that are scheduled to vest on March 31, 2016.

6300 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, CA 94555
Tel: (510) 456-3800

9.

Within two (2) business days of your execution of this Agreement, you will return all equipment and other property belonging to Asterias and its
related companies, and all originals and copies of confidential information (in any and all media and formats, and including any document or other
item containing confidential information) in your possession or control, and all of the following (in any and all media and formats, and whether or
not constituting or containing confidential information) in your possession or control: (a) lists and sources of customers; (b) proposals or drafts of
proposals for any research grant, research or development project or program, marketing plan, licensing arrangement, or other arrangement with any
third party; (c) reports, job or laboratory notes, specifications, and drawings pertaining to the research, development, products, patents, and
technology of Asterias and its related companies; (d) any and all intellectual property developed by you during the course of employment; and (e)
the Asterias employment manual and memoranda related to the Company’s policies and procedures.

10.

Effective March 3, 2016, you resigned from the Board of Directors of Asterias and from the Board of Directors of each and every Company
subsidiary.

11.

In consideration for the payment in paragraph 3 above, you fully release Asterias and its related and/or affiliated companies, their past and present
agents, employees, officers, directors and representatives (“Releasees”) from all rights, claims and actions of any kind which you have or may have
against Releasees arising out of your employment with or separation from Asterias, through action of law, statute, constitution or contract, including,
but not limited to, claims for wrongful discharge and claims arising under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the Fair Employment and Housing Act, the California Labor Code, the New York
State and City Human Rights Laws and the New York Labor Law. The foregoing statutory and common-law theories are recited only as examples.
This release extends to all claims, which may be lawfully released by you, whether included in the list or not.

12.

You agree not to file any suit or complaint against Releasees relating to your employment with Asterias, the severance of that relationship, or any
cause of action or event that arose prior to the date of this Agreement or that is contemplated by this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement is
intended to prevent you from filing charges with administrative agencies such as the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), or the
Securities & Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or from participating in any investigation by such an agency. You agree, however, that this Agreement
precludes any subsequent individual non-governmental legal action by you or on your behalf against Releasees and that the payments received
pursuant to this Agreement constitute a full accord and satisfaction of any individual claims against Releasees. Nothing in this Agreement shall
prevent you from bringing claims that may not be individually released by you.

13.

The parties agree that they will not unlawfully interfere with existing or prospective business relationships of the other. Nothing in the Agreement
shall be construed to limit the parties’ ability to engage in competitive business.

14.

You expressly waive all rights under section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which a creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favour at the
time of executing the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the
debtor.

15.

Notwithstanding your separation from the Company, the Company shall indemnify you and hold you harmless for any expenses, liability or losses
incurred by you in the course and scope of or arising out of the course and scope of your employment with Asterias. By entering into this Agreement
you do not waive any coverage provided by the Company’s Directors and Officers insurance.

16.

You affirm that you have no pending legal actions against Asterias or Releasees and that you have not sustained any workplace injuries or illnesses
that are not the subject of a previously filed workers' compensation claim.

17.

You acknowledge and agree that during your employment, and with the payments provided in paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 above, you have
received all of the pay and benefits to which you were entitled under Asterias policy and by law, that you have been reimbursed for all business
expenses you incurred during your employment with Asterias, and that you are not entitled to any other compensation, benefits or payments.

18.

Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered as an admission of fault by any party or construed as an admission of liability on the part of any of
the parties to this Agreement.

19.

You agree to waive any and all rights to reinstatement of employment with Asterias and its related or affiliated companies and agree that Asterias
and its related or affiliated companies may reject without cause any application for employment made by you.

20.

You fully understand that if any facts with respect to this Agreement, or your prior treatment by, relationship with or employment with Asterias, be
found in the future to be other than or different from the facts now assumed by you to be true, you expressly accept and assume the risk of such
possible difference of facts and agree that this Agreement shall remain effective notwithstanding such difference in facts or belief.

21.

You acknowledge access to and receipt of confidential business and proprietary information regarding Asterias and its clients while working for the
Company. This information may be in a variety of paper and electronic forms. You agree not to make any such information known to any member
of the public and to comply with all applicable ethical responsibilities.

22.

You agree to cooperate with Releasees regarding any pending or subsequently filed litigation claims or other disputes involving Releasees that
relate to matters within your knowledge or responsibility and in which you are not a party. Without limiting the foregoing, you agree (i) to meet
with Releasees’ representatives, their counsel or other designees at mutually convenient times and places with respect to any items within the scope
of this provision; (ii) to provide truthful testimony regarding same to any court, agency, or other adjudicatory body; and (iii) to provide Asterias
with notice of contact by any adverse party or such adverse party’s representative, except as may be required by law. Asterias will reimburse you for
reasonable expenses in connection with the cooperation described in this paragraph.

23.

By signing this Agreement you acknowledge that:
(a)

You understand that you have twenty-one (21) days from the date you received this Agreement to consider whether to enter into this
Agreement. You may enter into this Agreement before the 21-day consideration period expires, but by doing so you acknowledge that
Asterias has in no way pressured or encouraged you to do so.

(b)

Any changes, whether material or immaterial, to this Agreement do not restart the twenty-one (21) day period.

(c)

You have been advised in writing to have counsel of your choice review this Agreement, and you have had counsel review the Agreement.

(d)

The lump sum payment described in Paragraph 3 above is in addition to anything to which you are otherwise entitled.

(e)

You intend to release all potential claims of discrimination, including age discrimination.

(f)

You intend that this Agreement is a binding waiver of claims against Releasees.

24.

You have seven (7) calendar days following the execution of this Agreement to revoke this Agreement. This Agreement will not become effective or
enforceable until the revocation period has expired. The eighth (8 th ) calendar day following your execution of this Agreement and your delivery of
the Agreement to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer will be the Effective Date of this Agreement. If you seek to revoke within seven (7)
calendar days following your execution of this Agreement, such revocation must be in writing and delivered to the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, by the seventh (7 th ) calendar day following your execution of this Agreement.

25.

This Agreement constitutes the complete and total agreement between you and Asterias regarding your employment or separation from employment
and supersedes any other agreements between the Parties. If any provision or term of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable, the
validity of the remaining provisions or terms shall not be affected.

26.

You understand that the release of claims described in this Agreement extends to matters which have occurred up until you sign this Agreement and
to matters which are contemplated by this Agreement, including your separation from employment.

27.

Provided you fully understand and agree to the terms of this Agreement, please sign this letter in the space provided below and return it to the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer at 6500 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, CA 94555.

/s/ Natale Ricciardi
Natale Ricciardi
Compensation Committee Chair
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.
I have read and understand the foregoing, and agree to its terms.
Dated: March 10, 2016
/s/ Pedro Lichtinger
Pedro Lichtinger

Exhibit 10.4
Confidential Materials Omitted and Filed Separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission Pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment under
Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Confidential Portions are marked: [***]
AMENDMENT TO NOTICE OF AWARD – RFA 13-03A - CIRM Strategic Partnership III Track A Awards
California Institute for Regenerative Medicine
Amendment Number: 2
Amendment Date: 3/2/16
Award Number:
Awardee Name:
Principal Investigator:
Project Title:

SP3A-07552
Asterias Biotherapeutics
Jane Stephanie Lebkowski

Total Award Amount:
$14,323,318
Awardee ID:
PR-Y0035A-SF
Project Period Start Date:
10/01/2014
Project Period End Date:
09/30/2018
A Phase I/IIa Dose Escalation Safety Study of AST-OPC1 in Patients with Cervical Sensorimotor Complete Spinal
Cord Injury
Authorized Organization Official and Address:
Katherine E. Spink
Chief Operating Officer
6300 Dumbarton Circle
Fremont, CA 94555

Official and Address to Receive Payments:
Katherine E. Spink
Chief Operating Officer
6300 Dumbarton Circle
Fremont, CA 94555

The terms and conditions of the original NGA and any prior Amendments to the NGA continue in full force and effect except for those changes specified in
this Amendment. The Principal Investigator and Authorized Organizational Official must sign and return this Amendment to CIRM within 30 days of
the Amendment date stated above. CIRM may hold future payments on this Award until the fully signed Amendment is received. This Amendment replaces
the Go/No Go and Progress Milestones set forth in Appendix A to the NGA, Amendment 1, and the disbursement schedule (“Quarterly Installments on Grant
Payments”) in the NGA, Amendment 1, beginning with the previously planned 4/1/16 payment, and is effective immediately:
A. Change in Milestones and Payment Schedule
Operational Milestone achievement is an important indicator of progress and will determine future award disbursements. Funds will not be disbursed
until each Operational Milestone is achieved. Failure to achieve an Operational Milestone, as determined in CIRM’s sole discretion, will result in the
suspension of further funding. These Operational Milestones will be used as a basis for payment disbursement, unless further modified with Prior
Approval from CIRM. Changes to Operational Milestones and/or Suspension Events shall be accomplished only by agreement of both parties via an
Amendment to this Notice of Award.
The Operational Milestones (OM) and disbursement schedule are as follows:
OM

Description

Payment Amount

A

[***] Patient Enrolled in Cohort 2

$

2,500,000

B

[***] Patient Enrolled in Cohort 3

$

2,500,000

C

[***] Patient Enrolled in Cohort 3 (as planned with 5 patients)

$

1,525,614

CIRM will also impose Suspension Events; defined as any event that halts or terminates the planned clinical study including:
·
·

Failure to manufacture and release the cell product
Failure to enroll and dose patients

The Awardee must immediately report the occurrence of a Suspension Event to CIRM and must submit a plan to resolve the issues associated with the
Suspension Event to CIRM within 30 days of the Suspension Event. The Awardee may only use CIRM funds for allowable Project Costs for up to 30
days following the occurrence of a Suspension Event. After 30 days, the Awardee must use its own funding for the project, unless CIRM, in its sole
discretion, determines that Awardee has satisfactorily resolved the Suspension Event.
1

By continuing to accept and use CIRM funds provided under this award, Awardee and Principal Investigator accept the modified terms reflected in this
Amendment.
/s/ Ramona Doyle
Ramona Doyle, M.D.
Vice President, Therapeutics, CIRM
/s/ Jane Stephanie Lebkowski
Jane Stephanie Lebkowski
Principal Investigator, Asterias Biotherapeutics
/s/ Katharine E. Spink
Katharine E. Spink
Authorized Organization Official, Asterias
Biotherapeutics
2

Exhibit 10.5
SERIES A WARRANT AGREEMENT
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.
and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as Warrant Agent
SERIES A WARRANT AGREEMENT
THIS SERIES A WARRANT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of March 31, 2016 is by and between Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, a New York limited liability trust company, as Warrant Agent (the
“Warrant Agent”).
WHEREAS, the Company is engaged in a public offering (the “Offering”) of warrants to purchase shares of Series A Common Stock (“Common Stock”)
of the Company (“Warrants”) on a pro-rata basis to its shareholders, except the Company's majority shareholder, BioTime, Inc., which has irrevocably
waived its right to receive the Warrants, and, in connection therewith, has determined to issue and deliver up to 3,331,483 of Warrants, each such Warrant
evidencing the right of the holder thereof to purchase one share of Common Stock for $5.00 per share on or before September 30, 2016, as further described
herein and subject to adjustments as described herein; and
WHEREAS, the Company has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) a registration statement, as amended, on Form S3, No. 333-200475 (the “Registration Statement”) and prospectus and any prospectus supplement thereto (the “Prospectus”), for the registration, under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), of Warrants to be issued in the Offering, and the shares of Common Stock underlying the Warrants;
and
WHEREAS, the Company desires the Warrant Agent to act on behalf of the Company, and the Warrant Agent is willing to so act, in connection with the
issuance, registration, transfer, exchange and exercise of the Warrants; and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to provide for the form and provisions of the Warrants, the terms upon which they shall be issued and exercised, and
the respective rights, limitation of rights, and immunities of the Company, the Warrant Agent, and the holders of the Warrants (each a “Holder”); and
WHEREAS, all acts and things have been done and performed which are necessary to make the Warrants, when executed on behalf of the Company and
countersigned by or on behalf of the Warrant Agent, as provided herein, the valid, binding and legal obligations of the Company, and to authorize the
execution and delivery of this Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1.

Appointment of Warrant Agent. The Company hereby appoints the Warrant Agent to act as agent for the Company for the Warrants, and the Warrant
Agent hereby accepts such appointment and agrees to perform the same in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

2.

Warrants.
2.1

Form of Warrant. Each Warrant shall be issued in registered form only and shall be in substantially the form of Exhibit A hereto, the provisions of
which are incorporated herein. Each Warrant shall be signed by, or bear the facsimile signature of, the Chairman of the Board, President, Chief
Executive Officer, Secretary or other principal officer of the Company. In the event the person whose facsimile signature has been placed upon any
Warrant shall have ceased to serve in the capacity in which such person signed the Warrant before such Warrant is issued, it may be issued with the
same effect as if he or she had not ceased to be such at the date of issuance.

2.2

Effect of Countersignature. Unless and until countersigned by the Warrant Agent pursuant to this Agreement, a Warrant shall be invalid and of no
effect and may not be exercised by the holder thereof.

2.3

Registration.
2.3.1

Warrant Register. The Warrant Agent shall maintain books (the “Warrant Register”), for the registration of original issuance and the
registration of transfer of the Warrants. Upon the initial issuance of the Warrants, the Warrant Agent shall issue and register the Warrants
in the names of the respective holders thereof in such denominations and otherwise in accordance with instructions delivered to the
Warrant Agent by the Company.

2.3.2

3.

Registered Holder. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer of any Warrant, the Company and the Warrant Agent may deem
and treat the person in whose name such Warrant is registered in the Warrant Register (the “Registered Holder”) as the absolute owner of
such Warrant and of each Warrant represented thereby (notwithstanding any notation of ownership or other writing on the Warrant
Certificate (as defined below) made by anyone other than the Company or the Warrant Agent), for the purpose of any exercise thereof,
and for all other purposes, and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

Terms and Exercise of Warrants.
3.1

Exercise Price. Each Warrant shall, when countersigned by the Warrant Agent, entitle the Registered Holder thereof, subject to the provisions of
such Warrant and of this Warrant Agreement, to purchase from the Company the number of shares of Common Stock stated therein, at the price of
$5.00 per share if exercised on or before the Expiration Date (as defined below), subject to the adjustments provided herein ( “Exercise Price”).

3.2

Duration of Warrants. A Warrant may be exercised only during the period (the “Exercise Period”) commencing on the date of issuance thereof and
ending on September 30, 2016 (the “Expiration Date”); provided, however, that the exercise of any Warrant shall be subject to the satisfaction of
any applicable conditions. Each Warrant not exercised on or before the Expiration Date shall become void, and all rights thereunder and all rights
in respect thereof under this Agreement shall cease at 5:00 p.m. New York City time on the Expiration Date.

3.3

Exercise of Warrants.
3.3.1

Payment. Subject to the provisions of the Warrant and this Warrant Agreement, a Warrant, when countersigned by the Warrant Agent,
may be exercised by the Registered Holder thereof by submitting a duly executed election to purchase attached to the applicable
Warrant, at the office of the Warrant Agent in the Borough of Brooklyn, City and State of New York or at the office of its successor as
Warrant Agent, in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, which may be done by fax or email delivery, and by paying,
within two days of the date of exercise, in full the Exercise Price for each full share of Common Stock as to which the Warrant is
exercised, in lawful money of the United States, by wire transfer or in good certified check or good bank draft payable to the order of the
Warrant Agent. The Registered Holder shall not be required to deliver the original Warrant in order to effect an exercise hereunder. Upon
delivery of an exercise notice, the Holder shall be deemed for all corporate purposes to have become the holder of record of the Warrant
Shares with respect to which a Warrant has been exercised, irrespective of the the date of delivery of the certificates evidencing such
Warrant Shares.

***Checks should be payable to the Warrant Agent. Notice of cash exercise should be made by e-mail (not fax) to fruggiero@amstock.com.
Originals need to be mailed to the Warrant Agent, Attention: Reorg Dept. Wired funds for exercise should be wired to:
JP MORGAN CHASE BANK
ABA # 021 000 021
ACCT # 530-354616
ACCT NAME: AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST CO
AS AGENT FOR SERIES A WARRANTS
ATTN: FRANK RUGGIERO – REORG DEPT.
3.3.2

Issuance of Common Stock on Exercise. Assuming funds for exercise are paid on or before the second trading day following the date of
receipt by the Company of an exercise notice, then on or before the third trading day following the date upon which the Company has
received an exercise notice for a Warrant, the Company shall cause its transfer agent to (i) provided that the transfer agent is participating
in The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) Fast Automated Securities Transfer Program credit such aggregate number of shares of
Common Stock to which the Holder is entitled pursuant to such exercise to the Holder’s or its designee’s balance account with DTC
through its Deposit/Withdrawal at Custodian System, or (ii) if the transfer agent is not participating in the DTC Fast Automated Securities
Transfer Program, issue and deliver to the Holder, or at the Holder’s instruction pursuant to the delivered exercise notice, the Holder’s
agent or designee, in each case pursuant to this clause (ii), sent by reputable overnight courier to the address specified in the applicable
exercise notice, a certificate, registered in the Company’s share register in the name of the Holder or its designee (as indicated in the
applicable exercise notice), for the number of shares of Common Stock to which the Holder is entitled pursuant to such exercise.

3.3.3

Valid Issuance. All Common Stock issued or issuable upon the proper exercise of a Warrant in conformity with this Agreement shall be
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

4.

Adjustments.
4.1

Stock Dividends.
4.1.1

Split-Ups. If after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 4.5 below, the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock
is increased by a stock dividend payable in Common Stock, or by a split-up of Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the
effective date of such stock dividend, split-up or similar event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable on exercise of each
Warrant shall be increased in proportion to such increase in the outstanding shares of Common Stock and the Exercise Price shall be
proportionally decreased such that the aggregate Exercise Price, after such adjustments, remains the same for each Warrant.

4.1.2

Dividends and Other Distributions. If the Company shall declare or make any dividend or other distribution of its assets (or rights to
acquire its assets) to holders of Common Stock, by way of return of capital or otherwise (including, without limitation, any distribution of
cash, stock or other securities, property or options by way of a dividend, spin off, reclassification, corporate rearrangement, scheme of
arrangement or other similar transaction), except to the extent an adjustment was already made pursuant to Section 4.1.1 or 4.2 (a
“Distribution”), at any time after the issuance of this Warrant, then, in each such case, the Company shall reserve and put aside the
maximum Distribution amount the Holder would have been entitled to receive if the Holder had held the number of shares of Common
Stock acquirable upon complete exercise of this Warrant (without regard to any limitations on exercise hereof, including without
limitation, the Maximum Percentage) immediately before the date on which a record is taken for such Distribution, or, if no such record is
taken, the date as of which the record holders of Common Stock are to be determined for the participation in such Distribution. Upon
exercise of this Warrant, in whole or in part, the Company shall, contemporaneously with the delivery of the Warrant Shares, distribute to
the Holder a pro rata portion of such Distribution based on the portion of the Warrant that has been exercised (provided, however, to the
extent that the Holder’s right to participate in any such Distributions would result in the Holder exceeding the Maximum Percentage,
then the Holder shall not be entitled to participate in such Distribution at such time and to such extent (or the beneficial ownership of any
such Common Stock as a result of such Distribution to such extent) and such Distribution to such extent shall be held in abeyance for the
benefit of the Holder until such time, if ever, as its right thereto would not result in the Holder exceeding the Maximum Percentage, at
which time or times the Holder shall be granted such Distribution (and any Distributions declared or made on such initial Distribution or
on any subsequent Distribution to be held similarly in abeyance) to the same extent as if there had been no such limitation).

4.2

Aggregation of Shares. If after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 4.5 hereof, the number of outstanding shares of Common
Stock is decreased by a consolidation, combination, reverse stock split or reclassification of Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the
effective date of such consolidation, combination, reverse stock split, reclassification or similar event, the number of shares of Common Stock
issuable on exercise of each Warrant shall be decreased in proportion to such decrease in outstanding shares of Common Stock and the Exercise
Price shall be proportionally increased such that the aggregate Exercise Price, after such adjustments, remains the same for each Warrant.

4.3

Purchase Rights. If at any time the Company grants, issues or sells any options, convertible securities or rights to purchase stock, warrants,
securities or other property pro rata to the record holders of any class of Common Stock (the “Purchase Rights”), then the Holder will be entitled
to acquire, upon the terms applicable to such Purchase Rights, the aggregate Purchase Rights which the Holder could have acquired if the Holder
had held the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable upon complete exercise of this Warrant (without regard to any limitations on exercise
hereof, including without limitation, the Maximum Percentage) immediately before the date on which a record is taken for the grant, issuance or
sale of such Purchase Rights, or, if no such record is taken, the date as of which the record holders of Common Stock are to be determined for the
grant, issue or sale of such Purchase Rights (provided, however, to the extent that the Holder’s right to participate in any such Purchase Right
would result in the Holder exceeding the Maximum Percentage, then the Holder shall not be entitled to participate in such Purchase Right to such
extent (or beneficial ownership of such Common Stock as a result of such Purchase Right to such extent) and such Purchase Right to such extent
shall be held in abeyance for the Holder until such time, if ever, as its right thereto would not result in the Holder exceeding the Maximum
Percentage, at which time or times the Holder shall be granted such right (and any Purchase Right granted, issued or sold on such initial Purchase
Right or on any subsequent Purchase Right to be held similarly in abeyance) to the same extent as if there had been no such limitation).

5.

4.4

No Cash Settlement. Under no circumstances will the Company be obligated to settle the Warrants in cash.

4.5

Calculations. All calculations under this Section 4 shall be made to the nearest cent or the nearest whole share, as the case may be. For purposes of
this Section 4, any calculation of the number of shares of Common Stock deemed to be issued and outstanding as of a given date shall not include
treasury shares, if any. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 4, no adjustment in the Exercise Price shall be required unless
such adjustment would require an increase or decrease of at least 1% in such price; provided however, that any adjustments which by reason of the
immediately preceding sentence are not required to be made shall be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment. In any
case in which this Section 4 shall require that an adjustment in the Exercise Price be made effective as of a record date for a specified event, if the
Registered Holder exercises a Warrant after such record date, the Company may elect to defer, until the occurrence of such event, the issuance of
the shares of Common Stock and other capital stock of the Company in excess of the shares of Common Stock and other capital stock of the
Company, if any, issuable upon such exercise on the basis of the Exercise Price in effect prior to such adjustment; provided, however, that in such
case the Company or the Warrant Agent shall deliver to the Registered Holder a due bill or other appropriate instrument evidencing the Registered
Holder’s right to receive such additional shares and/or other capital securities upon the occurrence of the event requiring such adjustment.

4.6

Notices of Changes in Warrant. Upon every adjustment of the Exercise Price or the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a Warrant, the
Company shall give written notice thereof to the Warrant Agent, which notice shall state the Exercise Price resulting from such adjustment and the
increase or decrease, if any, in the number of shares purchasable at such price upon the exercise of a Warrant, setting forth in reasonable detail the
method of calculation and the facts upon which such calculation is based. Upon occurrence of any event specified in Sections 4.1, 4.2 or 4.3, the
Company shall give written notice of the occurrence of such event to each Warrant holder, at the last address set forth for such holder in the
Warrant Register, of the record date or the effective date of the event. Failure to give such notice, or any defect therein, shall not affect the legality
or validity of such event.

4.7

No Fractional Shares. Notwithstanding any provision contained in this Warrant Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall not issue fractional
shares upon exercise of Warrants. If, by reason of any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 4, the holder of any Warrant would be entitled,
upon the exercise of such Warrant, to receive a fractional interest in a share, the Company shall, upon such exercise, round to the nearest whole
number, the number of the shares of Common Stock to be issued to such holder.

4.8

Form of Warrant. The form of Warrant need not be changed because of any adjustment pursuant to this Section 4, and Warrants issued after such
adjustment may state the same Exercise Price and the same number of shares as is stated in the Warrants initially issued pursuant to this
Agreement.

4.9

Other Events. In case any event shall occur affecting the Company as to which none of the provisions of preceding subsections of this Section 4
are strictly applicable, but which would require an adjustment to the terms of the Warrants in order to (i) avoid an adverse impact on the Warrants
and (ii) effectuate the intent and purpose of this Section 4, then, in each such case, the Company shall appoint a firm of independent public
accountants, investment banking or other appraisal firm of recognized national standing, which shall give its opinion as to whether or not any
adjustment to the rights represented by the Warrants is necessary to effectuate the intent and purpose of this Section 4 and, if they determine that
an adjustment is necessary, the terms of such adjustment. The Company shall adjust the terms of the Warrants in a manner that is consistent with
any adjustment recommended in such opinion.

Transfer and Exchange of Warrants.
5.1

Registration of Transfer. The Warrant Agent shall register the transfer, from time to time, of any outstanding Warrant upon the Warrant Register,
upon surrender of such Warrant for transfer, properly endorsed with signatures properly guaranteed and accompanied by appropriate instructions
for transfer. Upon any such transfer, a new Warrant representing an equal aggregate number of Warrants shall be issued and the old Warrant shall
be cancelled by the Warrant Agent. The Warrants so cancelled shall be delivered by the Warrant Agent to the Company from time to time upon
request.

5.2

Procedure for Surrender of Warrants. Warrants may be surrendered to the Warrant Agent, together with a written request for exchange or transfer,
and thereupon the Warrant Agent shall issue in exchange therefor one or more new Warrants as requested by the Registered Holder of the Warrants
so surrendered, representing an equal aggregate number of Warrants.

5.3

Fractional Warrants. The Warrant Agent shall not be required to effect any registration of transfer or exchange which shall result in the issuance of
a warrant certificate for a fraction of a warrant.

5.4
6.

7.

Warrant Execution and Countersignature. The Warrant Agent is hereby authorized to countersign and to deliver, in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement, the Warrants required to be issued pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5.

Other Provisions Relating to Rights of Holders of Warrants.
6.1

No Rights as Stockholder. A Warrant does not entitle the Registered Holder thereof to any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company,
including, without limitation, except as otherwise set forth herein or in any Warrant, the right to receive dividends, or other distributions, exercise
any preemptive rights to vote or to consent or to receive notice as stockholders in respect of the meetings of stockholders or the election of
directors of the Company or any other matter.

6.2

Lost, Stolen, Mutilated, or Destroyed Warrants. If any Warrant is lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed, the Company and the Warrant Agent may on
such terms as to indemnity bond or otherwise as they may in their discretion impose (which shall, in the case of a mutilated Warrant, include the
surrender thereof), issue a new Warrant of like denomination, tenor, and date as the Warrant so lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed. Any such new
Warrant shall constitute a substitute contractual obligation of the Company, whether or not the allegedly lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed
Warrant shall be at any time enforceable by anyone.

6.3

Reservation of Common Stock. The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available a number of its authorized but unissued shares of
Common Stock that shall be sufficient to permit the exercise in full of all outstanding Warrants issued pursuant to this Agreement.

6.4

Registration of Common Stock. The Company registered the Warrants and shares of Common Stock underlying the Warrants in the Registration
Statement. The Company will use its reasonable best efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such Registration Statement and the current status of
the Prospectus or to file and maintain the effectiveness of another registration statement and another current prospectus covering the shares of
Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants at any time that the Warrants are exercisable.

Concerning the Warrant Agent and Other Matters.
7.1

Payment of Taxes. The Company shall from time to time promptly pay all taxes and charges that may be imposed upon the Company or the
Warrant Agent in respect of the issuance or delivery of shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of the Warrants, but the Company shall not be
obligated to pay any transfer taxes in respect of the Warrants or such shares.

7.2

Resignation, Consolidation, or Merger of Warrant Agent.
7.2.1

Appointment of Successor Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent, or any successor hereafter appointed, may resign its duties and be
discharged from all further duties and liabilities hereunder after giving sixty (60) days’ notice in writing to the Company. If the office of
the Warrant Agent becomes vacant by resignation or incapacity to act or otherwise, the Company shall appoint in writing a successor
Warrant Agent in place of the Warrant Agent. If the Company shall fail to make such appointment within a period of thirty (30) days after
it has been notified in writing of such resignation or incapacity by the Warrant Agent or by the holder of a Warrant (who shall, with such
notice, submit his Warrant for inspection by the Company), then the holder of any Warrant may apply to the Supreme Court of the State
of New York for the County of New York for the appointment of a successor Warrant Agent at the Company’s cost. Any successor Warrant
Agent, whether appointed by the Company or by such court, shall be a corporation in good standing in the State of New York and having
its principal office in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, and authorized under such laws to exercise corporate trust
powers and subject to supervision or examination by federal or state authority. After appointment, any successor Warrant Agent shall be
vested with all the authority, powers, rights, immunities, duties, and obligations of its predecessor Warrant Agent with like effect as if
originally named as Warrant Agent hereunder, without any further act or deed; but if for any reason it becomes necessary or appropriate,
the predecessor Warrant Agent shall execute and deliver, at the expense of the Company, an instrument transferring to such successor
Warrant Agent all the authority, powers, and rights of such predecessor Warrant Agent hereunder; and upon request of any successor
Warrant Agent the Company shall make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any and all instruments in writing for more fully and
effectually vesting in and confirming to such successor Warrant Agent all such authority, powers, rights, immunities, duties, and
obligations.

7.2.2

Notice of Successor Warrant Agent. In the event a successor Warrant Agent shall be appointed, the Company shall give notice thereof to
the predecessor Warrant Agent and the transfer agent for the Common Stock not later than the effective date of any such appointment.

7.2.3

7.3

7.4

7.5

8.

Merger or Consolidation of Warrant Agent. Any company into which the Warrant Agent may be merged or with which it may be
consolidated or any corporation resulting from any merger or consolidation to which the Warrant Agent shall be a party shall be the
successor Warrant Agent under this Agreement without any further act.

Fees and Expenses of Warrant Agent.
7.3.1

Remuneration. The Company agrees to pay the Warrant Agent reasonable remuneration for its services as such Warrant Agent hereunder
and any transfer agent fees which are in addition thereto and shall, pursuant to its obligations under this Agreement, reimburse the
Warrant Agent upon demand for all expenditures that the Warrant Agent may reasonably incur in the execution of its duties hereunder.

7.3.2

Further Assurances. The Company agrees to perform, execute, acknowledge, and deliver or cause to be performed, executed,
acknowledged, and delivered all such further and other acts, instruments, and assurances as may reasonably be required by the Warrant
Agent for the carrying out or performing of the provisions of this Agreement.

Liability of Warrant Agent.
7.4.1

Reliance on Company Statement. Whenever in the performance of its duties under this Agreement, the Warrant Agent shall deem it
necessary or desirable that any fact or matter be proved or established by the Company prior to taking or suffering any action hereunder,
such fact or matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be conclusively proved
and established by a statement signed by the President or Chairman of the Board of the Company and delivered to the Warrant Agent.
The Warrant Agent may rely upon such statement for any action taken or suffered in good faith by it pursuant to the provisions of this
Agreement.

7.4.2

Indemnity. The Warrant Agent shall be liable hereunder only for its own gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith. The Company
agrees to indemnify the Warrant Agent and save it harmless against any and all liabilities, including judgments, costs and reasonable
counsel fees, for anything done or omitted by the Warrant Agent in the execution of this Agreement, except as a result of the Warrant
Agent’s gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith.

7.4.3

Exclusions. The Warrant Agent shall have no responsibility with respect to the validity of this Agreement or with respect to the validity
or execution of any Warrant (except its countersignature thereof). The Warrant Agent shall not be responsible for any breach by the
Company of any covenant or condition contained in this Agreement or in any Warrant. The Warrant Agent shall not be responsible to
make any adjustments required under the provisions of Section 4 hereof or responsible for the manner, method, or amount of any such
adjustment or the ascertaining of the existence of facts that would require any such adjustment; nor shall it by any act hereunder be
deemed to make any representation or warranty as to the authorization or reservation of any shares of Common Stock to be issued
pursuant to this Agreement or any Warrant or as to whether any shares of Common Stock shall, when issued, be valid and fully paid and
nonassessable.

Acceptance of Agency. The Warrant Agent hereby accepts the agency established by this Agreement and agrees to perform the same upon the
terms and conditions herein set forth and among other things, shall account promptly to the Company with respect to Warrants exercised and
concurrently account for, and pay to the Company, all monies received by the Warrant Agent for the purchase of shares of Common Stock through
the exercise of the Warrants.

Miscellaneous Provisions.
8.1

Successors. All the covenants and provisions of this Agreement by or for the benefit of the Company or the Warrant Agent shall bind and inure to
the benefit of their respective successors and assigns.

8.2

Notices. Any notice, statement or demand authorized by this Warrant Agreement to be given or made by the Warrant Agent or by the holder of any
Warrant to or on the Company shall be sufficiently given (i) when so delivered if by hand or overnight delivery, (ii) when sent, if delivered by
facsimile (provided confirmation of transmission is mechanically or electronically generated and kept on file by the sending party) or by
electronic mail, or (iii) if sent by certified mail or private courier service within five (5) days after deposit of such notice, postage prepaid,
addressed (until another address is filed in writing by the Company with the Warrant Agent), as follows:
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.
6300 Dumbarton Circle
Fremont, CA 94555
Attn: Chief Executive Officer
By Email (which constitutes notice): scartt@asteriasbio.com

with copies to:
Dentons US LLP,
1221 Avenue of the Americas,
New York, NY 10020-1089
Attention: Jeffrey A. Baumel
Email: jeffrey.baumel@dentons.com
Any notice, statement or demand authorized by this Agreement to be given or made by the holder of any Warrant or by the Company to or on the
Warrant Agent shall be sufficiently given (i) upon receipt if by hand or overnight delivery, (ii) when sent, if delivered by facsimile (provided
confirmation of transmission is mechanically or electronically generated and kept on file by the sending party) or by electronic mail, or (iii) if sent
by certified mail or private courier service within five (5) days after deposit of such notice, postage prepaid, addressed (until another address is
filed in writing by the Warrant Agent with the Company), as follows:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC
6201 15 th Avenue, 3rd Floor
Brooklyn, NY 11219
Attention: Reorg Dept.
No fax number available.
By Email (which constitutes notice): fruggiero@amstock.com
8.3

Applicable Law. The validity, interpretation, and performance of this Agreement and of the Warrants shall be governed in all respects by the laws
of the State of New York, without giving effect to conflicts of law principles that would result in the application of the substantive laws of another
jurisdiction. The Company hereby agrees that any action, proceeding or claim against it arising out of or relating in any way to this Agreement
shall be brought and enforced in the courts of the State of New York or the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and
irrevocably submits to such jurisdiction, which jurisdiction shall be exclusive. The Company hereby waives any objection to such exclusive
jurisdiction and that such courts represent an inconvenient forum.

8.4

Persons Having Rights under this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to confer upon, or give to, any person or corporation
other than the parties hereto and the Registered Holders of the Warrants any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Warrant Agreement
or of any covenant, condition, stipulation, promise, or agreement hereof. All covenants, conditions, stipulations, promises, and agreements
contained in this Warrant Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and their successors and assigns and of the
Registered Holders of the Warrants.

8.5

Examination of the Warrant Agreement. A copy of this Agreement shall be available at all reasonable times at the office of the Warrant Agent in
the Borough of Manhattan, City of New York and State of New York, for inspection by the Registered Holder of any Warrant. The Warrant Agent
may require any such holder to submit his Warrant for inspection by it.

8.6

Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of original or facsimile counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all
purposes be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

8.7

Effect of Headings. The section headings herein are for convenience only and are not part of this Warrant Agreement and shall not affect the
interpretation thereof.

8.8

Amendments. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto without the consent of any Registered Holder for the purpose of curing any
ambiguity, or curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained herein or adding or changing any other provisions with
respect to matters arising under this Agreement as the parties may deem necessary or desirable and that the parties deem shall not adversely affect
the interest of the Registered Holders. All other modifications or amendments shall require the written consent of the Company and the Registered
Holders holding Warrants to purchase at least 65% of the shares of Common Stock underlying the then outstanding Warrants. No consideration
shall be offered by the Company to any Registered Holder in connection with a modification, amendment or waiver of this Warrant Agreement or
any Warrant without also offering the same consideration to all Registered Holders.

8.9

Severability. This Warrant Agreement shall be deemed severable, and the invalidity or unenforceability of any term or provision hereof shall not
affect the validity or enforceability of this Warrant Agreement or of any other term or provision hereof. Furthermore, in lieu of any such invalid or
unenforceable term or provision, the parties hereto intend that there shall be added as a part of this Warrant Agreement a provision as similar in
terms to such invalid or unenforceable provision as may be possible and be valid and enforceable.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.
ASTERIAS BIOTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
By: /s/ Russell Skibsted
Name: Russell Skibsted
Title: Chief Financial Officer
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as Warrant Agent
By: /s/ Jennifer Donovan
Name: Jennifer Donovan
Title: Senior Vice President

Exhibit 31
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Michael D. West, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of BioTime, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which the periodic reports are being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 10, 2016
/s/ Michael D. West
Michael D. West
Co-Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Aditya Mohanty, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of BioTime, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which the periodic reports are being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 10, 2016
/s/ Aditya Mohanty
Aditya Mohanty
Co-Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Russell Skibsted, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of BioTime, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which the periodic reports are being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 10, 2016
/s/ Russell Skibsted
Russell Skibsted
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of BioTime, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Michael D. West, Co-Chief Executive Officer, Aditya Mohanty, Co-Chief Executive
Officer, and Russell Skibsted, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 10, 2016
/s/ Michael D. West
Michael D. West
Co-Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Aditya Mohanty
Aditya Mohanty
Co-Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Russell Skibsted
Russell Skibsted
Chief Financial Officer

